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City of Dunkirk

Dunkirk, NY 14048

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental aclivities, the aggregate
discretely presented compenent units, and each major fund, of the City of Dunkirk, New York, as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents,

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements In
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United Stales of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not
audit the financial statements of the Dunkirk Housing Authority, which is a discretely presented
component unit and represents 81.0 percent, 84.5 percent and 87.8 percent, respectively, of the assets,
net position and revenues of the discretely presented component units of the City of Dunkirk, New York.
Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion,
insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the Dunkirk Housing Authority, is based solely on the
report of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepled in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risk of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In _making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express ne such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

70 East Main Street / Fredonia, New York 14063 / 716-672-4770 / Fax 716-679-1512 / jma-cpas.com



We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units and each major fund of the City of Dunkirk,
New York, as of December 31, 2015, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Change in Accounting Principle

As described in Note 1 of the financial statements, in 2015, the City adopted new accounting standards,
GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting for Financial Reporting for Pensions — an Amendment of GASB
Statement No. 27 and GASB Statement No. 71 — Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent
to the Measurement Date. Our opinion is not madified with respect to these matters.

Other Matters
Required Supplemeniary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, schedule of funding progress — other
postemployment benefits and schedule of proportionate share of the net pension asset / liability on pages
4 through 11, 44 through 48 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the
basic financial staterents in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We and other
auditors have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries
of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtain during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or
provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

OCther information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City of Dunkirk, New York's basic financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of
federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by U.S. Office of Management
and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, and is
also not a required part of the basic financial statements,

The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is the responsibility of management and was derived
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit
of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion,
the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
basic financial statements as a whole.



The accompanying schedule of expenditures of New York State Department of Transportation assistance
as listed in the table of contents is presented for the purpose of additional analysis as required by the
New York State Department of Transporiation and Drafts Part 43 of the New York State Codification of
Rules and Regulations, and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. The schedule of
expenditures of New York State Department of Transportation assistance is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themseives,
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditure of New York State Department of
Transportation assistance is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial
statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our reports dated May 26,
2016, on our consideration of the City of Dunkirk, New York's internal control over financial reporting and
on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements and other matters. The purpose of these reports is to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the resulls of that testing, and not to provide
an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance, These reports are an integral
part of an audit perfformed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering City of
Dunkirk, New York's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Q@M.W { Cowrciatrd LLP
Johnson, Mackowiak & Associates, LLP

Fredonia, New York



CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

This discussion and analysis of the City of Dunkirk, New York’s financial performance
provides an overview of the City’s financial activities for the year ended December 31,
2015. This document should be read in conjunction with the City’s financial statements
which begin on page 12

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

o The General Fund reported a $3,286 budgetary surplus for the year ended December
31, 2015 as shown on page 49. This amount compares to a budgetary deficit of
$417,410 for the year ended December 31, 2014.

¢ The General Fund reported an operating surplus of $36,818 for the current year as
compared to an operating deficit of $529,322 for 2014.

o The Water Fund had an operating deficit of $96,921 for the current year as compared
with an operating deficit of $225,084 for 2014. The upgrades and repairs to the water
filtration plant and water infrastructure mandated by Chautauqua County continued
throughout 2015. Water rates were adjusted for 2015 to meet increased costs
associated with this project.

» The Wastewater Treatment Fund had an operating surplus of $144,021 for 2015 as
compared with an operating surplus of $383,067 for 2014.

» The City’s net position increased by $687,816 as a result of the operations for the
year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to a decrease of approximately $385,763
as a result of 2014 activity.

USING THIS REPORT

The annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The statement of net
position and the statement of activities provide information regarding the City as a whole
and present a longer-term view of the City’s finances. Financial statements for each fund
start on page 14. For governmental activities, these statements show how services were
financed in the overall operation of the City in greater detail than the City-wide financial
statements.



REPORTING THE CITY AS A WHOLE

The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities

The statement of net position and statement of activities show information about the City
as a whole. These statements include all assets and liabilities of the City using the
accrual basis of accounting which is used by most private-sector companies. All of the
current year’s revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of when cash is
received or paid.

These two statements report the City’s net position and the changes to them, The City’s
net position — the difference between assets and liabilities — is a way to measure the
City’s financial health, or financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in the
City’s net position are one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or
deteriorating. Other non-financial factors need to be considered, such as changes in the
City’s property tax base and the condition of the City’s roads and infrastructure, to assess
the overall health of the City.

In the statement of net position and the statement of activities, the City reports all its
basic services as governmental activities. These services include public safety, public
works, economic assistance, health, water treatment, wastewater treatment, economic
development and general administration. Property taxes, sales taxes, departmental
income and state and federal aid finance most of these activities.

REPORTING THE CITY’S MOST SIGNIFICANT FUNDS
Fund Financial Statements

Our discussion and analysis of the City’s major funds begin on page 14 and provide
detail of the City’s most significant funds on an individual basis rather than the City
taken as a whole. Some funds are required to be established by state or local law or by
the nature of the federal and state funding for their operation. The City has also
segregated funds to account for their special purpose. Currently the City only utilizes
governmental funds.

Governmental Funds

All funds of the City are considered governmental funds. This Section focuses on how
revenue flows into and out of these funds and the balance of the funds at year-end which
is available for future spending. These funds are reported using the modified accrual
basis of accounting which measures cash and financial assets that can be readily
converted to cash. The governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view
of the City’s general operations and the basic services it provides. This information helps
determine the financial resources that can be spent to finance City programs. The
relationship between the governmental activities (accrual basis) and the governmental
funds (modified accrual basis) is provided in reconciliations on pages 15 and 17.

-5.



THE CITY AS TRUSTEE

The City is the trustee for assets held - due to a trust arrangement — which can be used
only for the trust beneficiaries. These amounts are excluded from the City-wide financial
statements because the City cannot use these assets to finance its day to day operations.
The City is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported are used for their intended

purpose.

THE CITY AS A WHOLE

The City’s combined net position increased to $16.557 million from $15.869 million for
the year ended December 31, 2015. This is a result of an operational surplus of $0.688
million. This compares to a decrease for the year ended December 31, 2014 of
approximately $0.386 million. Our discussion and analysis focuses on the net position
(Table 1) and the changes in net position (Table 2) of the City’s governmental activities.

Table 1
Net Position
_ (In Thousands)
Governmental Total Primary
Activities Government
2015 2014 2015 2014
Assets
Current assets $ 8765 § 15,525 8,765 5 15525
Capital assets 35,557 31,954 35,557 31,954
Total assets $ 44322 § 47479 44,322 § 47479
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pensions 5 462 § 570 462 § 570
Total deferred outflow at rasource 5 462 570 462 § 570
Liabilities
Current liabiiities $ 15467 $ 21,094 15467 § 21,094
Long-term portion of obligations 12,760 9,786 12,760 8,786
Total liabilities $ 28,227 § 30,680 28,227 $ 30,880
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue - property tax items 3 - § 1,300 - $_ 1,300
Total deferred inflows of resources 3 - $ 1,300 - $ 1,300
Net Position
Net Investment in capital assets $ 15008 $ 10419 15008 $ 10419
Restricted 1,944 1,943 1,944 1,943
Unrestricted {395) 3,507 (3985) 3,507
Total net position § 16557 § 15,869 16,557 § 15869




Table 2
Changes in Net Position
{In Thousands)

Governmental Total Primary
Activities Government
2015 2014 2015 2014
Revenues
Program revenues
Charges for services $ 8129 $ 7578 B 8128 § 7,578
Operating grants and contributions 2,496 1,820 2,496 1,820
Capital grants and contributions 409 409 409 409
General revenues

Property taxes 4,838 4,837 4,838 4,837
Sales tax 2,403 2,404 2,403 2,404
PILOT payments 2,768 2,860 2,768 2,860
Investment earnings 7 130 7 130
Miscellaneous 3,121 3,423 3121 3423

Total revenues 24,171 23,461 24,171 23,461

Program expenses

Council 57 61 57 61
Mayor 155 166 165 166
Financial 504 526 504 526
Staff 731 854 731 854
Shared services 660 732 660 732
Special items 1,076 1,020 1,076 1,020
Police department 5,381 5410 5,381 5410
Fire depariment 3,526 3,271 3,526 3,271
Other public safety 274 268 274 268
Transporiation 2,037 2,564 2,037 2,564
Economic assistance and opportunity 50 58 50 58
Culture and recreation 8BS 935 889 935
Water treatment 2,329 2,275 2,329 2,275
Wastewater treatment 2,956 2,866 2,956 2,866
Home and community service 2518 2,405 2,519 2,405
Interest on long-term debt 339 436 338 436
Total expenses 23,483 23,847 23,483 23,847
Increase (decrease) in net position ] 688 3 (388) $ 6B8 3 (386)




Table 3 presents the cost of the City’s five largest governmental programs: police
department, fire department, transportation, water treatment and wastewater treatment as
well as the net cost (total cost less revenues generated by the activities). The net cost
shows the final cost paid by the City’s taxpayers and other general revenue sources of
each of these functions.

Table 3
Governmental Activities
(In Thousands)

Total Cost of Services Net Cost of Services

2015 2014 2015 2014
Police department $ 5,381 § 5410 § 4,926 $ 4979
Fire department 3,526 3,272 3,076 3,268
Water treatment 2,329 2,275 (749) (372)
Wastewater treatment 2,956 2,866 (949) (886)
Home & community 2,519 2,405 594 642
Totals £ 16711 § 16228 3 6898 §_7,631

THE CITY’S FUNDS

General Governmental Functions

As the City completed the year, its governmental funds (as presented on page 14)
reported a combined fund deficit of $6.62 million which reflects an increase of $0.53
million from last year’s total of $6.09 million. During 2015, the City’s capital
expenditures exceed its related revenues by approximately $0.95 million.



GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

The significant variances between the originally adopted budgets for 2015 and 2014 and
the final budget are detailed as follows:

2015 2014
Qriginal budget $ 14,973,797 $ 15,347,760
Additional appropriations 1,021,735 -
Encumbrance carryover 67,576 186,501
Final Budget $ 16,063,108 $ 15534,261

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION
Capital Assets

At December 31, 2015, the City had $35.56 million (net of accumulated depreciation) in
a broad range of capital assets including land, buildings, water mains, sewer lines, roads,

sidewalks, machinery and equipment. This represents a net increase of approximately
$3.603 million for the year.

Table 4
Capital Assets at Year-End (Net of Depreciation)
{In Thousands)

Governmental Total Primary
Activities Government
2015 2014 2015 2014
Land and impravements $ 151 § 151 % 151  § 151
Construction in progress 30,252 26,018 30,252 26,018
Infrastructure 34,704 34,704 34,704 34,704
Buildings and improvements 12,420 12,420 12,420 12,420
Machinery and equipment 16,910 16,848 16,910 16,848
Accumulated depreciation (58,880) (58,187) (58,880) (58,187)
Total $ 35557 § 31954 § 35557 § 31,954




Debt

At year end, the City had $20.549 million in bonds and notes outstanding as compared to
$21.536 million outstanding at December 31, 2014. See Note 7 on pages 38 through 45
for additional details),

Qutstanding Debt at Year-end
{In Thousands)

Governmental Totﬁl-’rirnary
Activities (Government
2015 2014 2015 2014

General obligation bonds $ 7735 § 4870 § 7,735 § 4,870

Bond anticipation notes $12814 ©$16666 § 12,814 $16,666

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES

The City’s elected and appointed officials considered many factors when setting the
fiscal-year 2016 budget, tax rates, and fees that will be charged for activities. One of
these factors is the economy. Full valuation of property in the City amounted to $610.1
million for 2016. The taxable valuation remained relatively constant at approximately
$279.6 million for 2016.

The City, along with many other municipalities, is faced with many mandatory increases
beyond the City’s control. There is a mandatory increase in the pension fund, medical
and liability insurance and worker’s compensation ranging in double digits. The City is
also faced with the challenge of declining revenues (caused primarily by a decrease in
customer usage) in the General, Water Funds and Wastewater Treatment Funds.

These current indicators are consistent with those we used when adopting the General
Fund budget for 2016. In developing the 2016 General Fund budget, the City did not
appropriate any amount from the tax stabilization reserve.

The City’s general fund balance is not expected to decrease by the close of 2016.
However, due to economic conditions and anticipated revenues not realized, the City may
realize a decrease in the general fund balance at year end. Nonetheless, the City’s
unreserved fund balance remains positive, we maintain healthy bond ratings (A+ from
Standard & Poor’s), and the City does not anticipate cash flow problems in 2016,

The City is expecting a $1.2 million shortfall in 2017 as the result of the loss of revenue
from the NRG payment in lieu of tax agreement less the state’s transition aid and
payments of debt related to the consent-ordered water treatment plant work and work on
the seawall coming due.

S



CONTACTING THE CITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors
and creditors with a general overview of the city’s finances and to show the city’s
accountability for the money it receives. If you have any questions or need additional
information, contact Mark A. Woods, City Treasurer, City Hall, 342 Central Avenue,
Dunkirk, New York 14048; Phone (716) 366-9863.

1=



CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2015

PRIMARY
GOVERNMENT
Governmental Component
Activities Units
ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,261,203 $ 954,248
Investments - 443,484
Receivables {net, where applicable of allowances
for estimated uncollectibles)
Taxes 442,894 -
Accounts receivable 2,164,230 2,847
Due from fiduciary funds 417,222 -
Due from other governments 1,479,319 10,352
Prepaid expenses - 38,320
Other assets - 37,064
Capital assets:
Land and improvements 151,188 1,257,808
Construction in progress 30,252,026 -
Infrastructure 34,704,071 -
Buildings and improvements 12,420,179 14,897,870
Machinery and equipment 16,909,533 1,175,918
Accumulated depreciation (58,880,345) (12,164,888)
TOTAL ASSETS 44,321,487 6,653,023

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS QF RESOURCES:
Pensions $ 462,282 $ 27,159




LIABILITIES:
Payables
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued interest payable
Due to other governments
Bond anticipation notes payable
Deferred revenue
Long term liabilities
Due and payable within one year
Serial bonds
Compensated absences
Due and payable in more than one year
Serial bonds
Compensated absences
Net pension liability

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET POSITION:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Capital equipment
Tax stabilization
Employee benefits
Street improvements
Encumbrances
Future expenditures
Unrestricted (Deficit)

TOTAL NET POSITION

PRIMARY

GOVERNMENT
Governmental Component
Activities Units
$ 1,514,804 36,914
211,777 32,858
110,688 -
815,564 49,552
12,814,000 -
- 405,565
410,000 -
250,000 20,518
7,325,000 -
3,852,018 184,660
923,269 35,205
28,227,220 765,272
16,007,619 5,166,708
371,115 -
484,268 -
516,334 -
428,534 -
144,048 -
- 37,565
(395,369) 710,637
$ 16,556,549 5,814,910

See holes to financial statements.
-12 -
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER M, 2015

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables. net

Taxes

Accounts raceivabla
Due from othar govemmenis
Due from other funds

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabiities
Due to other governments
Dua to other funds
Bond anlicipation notes payable
Detferred revenue

TOTAL LIABILITIES

FUND BALANCES:
Raserved for
Tax stabilization
Encumbrances
Assigned for;
Capile! equipment
Slrest improvements
Employee benefits
Encumbrances
Unassigned: {Deficil)
Unasaigned {Deficit)

TOTAL FUND BALANCES

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Wastewater Speclal Capltal Total
Genaral Water Treatment Grant Projects Governmental
Eund Fund Fund Fund Fund Eunds
H 2839504 § 252,362 § 434640 8 5951 % 728,746 H 4,261,203
442,894 . - 442,894
557.773 761,508 544,948 - - 2,164,230
1,019,182 - g 27,214 432,923 1,479,319
4,233,057 524,578 825,976 . 1,036411 6,620,022
$ 8,092,410 $ 1,538,449 S 2105564 § 33186 S 2,196,080 $ 14,967,668
$ 1,208,607 § 125956 § 155339 § - $ 25,000 H 1,514,504
156,506 35,328 19,943 . - 211777
782,399 - - - - 782,399
1,207,268 2,358,782 1,850,885 33,165 787,055 6,235,865
- - - - 12,814,000 12,814,000
24,048 - - - - 24,048
3378828 2,518,068 2,026 177 33,165 13,626,855 21,583,093
484 288 - . . - 484,268
- 16,466 41,479 - - 57,945
7118 - - - 7118
428,534 - o - - 428,534
516,334 - - - - 518,334
86,103 - 86,103
38272208 (996,085) 37,508 {11,428775) (8,558 724)
5,713,582 (979,618) 79,387 - (11,428,775) (6,615,425)
$ §082,410 §  1,5)8449 § 2105664 § 32165 § 2,195,080 H 14,967,668

Swa notes ko financial stalemeants.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

REVENUES:
Real property laxes
Sales tax
Property tax items
Non-property tax items
Departmental Income
Shared services
Use of money and property
Licenses and permits
Fines and forfeitures

Sale of property and compensation for loss

Miscellaneous
Stale aid
Federal ald

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Councll
Mayor
Financial
Staff
Shared services
Special items
Police department
Fire depariment
Other public safety
Transportation
Economic assistance and opportunity
Culture and recreation
Home and community service
Employee benefils

Debt service:
Principal
Interast

Capltal outlay

Total expenditures

EXCESS {DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in
Proceeds of obligations
BANSs redeemed from appropriations

Total other financing sources (uses)

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES

FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - beginning

FUND BALANCES {DEFICIT) - ending

Wastewater Special Capital TOTAL
General Water Treatment Grant Projects Governmental

Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds
5 40835480 § - 3 - 5 o g - § 4838480
2,403,021 - - - . 2,403,031
2,795,620 - - - - 2,795,620
283,736 - - - - 283,738
1,736,608 3,077,752 3,629,135 - - 8,443,455
1,208,312 - - - 100,000 1,308,313
58,377 - - . 6,612 65,989
45,629 . - - - 45,629
112,701 - 175,774 . - 288,475
5,483 5,287 - - - 10,770
407,033 15,043 11,007 . - 433,083
2,087,203 - - - - 2,067,203
73,219 - - 1,086,598 - 1,160,217
16,036,433 3,098,083 3,815,916 1,086,998 106,612 24,144,042
38,726 - - - 38,726
103,922 - - - - 103.922
357,364 - - - 357.384
498,292 - - . 496,292
538,359 - - - . 539,359
236,443 394,967 444,534 - . 1,075,944
3,633,379 - - - 3,633,379
2,517,237 - - - 2,517,237
219,548 . - - 219,549
1,594,325 - - - 1,594,325
42415 - - - 42,415
660,852 - - . - 660,802
1,256,668 1,670,311 2,326,031 1,086,998 - 6,340,008
4,217,574 507,541 515,675 - - 5,240,700
60,000 366,000 225,000 - 651,600
29,513 256,185 160,655 - - 446,353
o - B = 4,233,743 4,233,743
15,003,678 3,195,004 1,671,895 1,086,998 4,233,743 28,191,318
32,755 {96,921) 144,021 - ___{4,127,131) (4,047,276)
4,083 - - - 4,063
o - - 3,180,000 3,180,000
c - - 336,000 336,000
4,063 - - . 3,615,000 3,520,063
36,818 {96,921) 144,021 - (611,131} {527,213)
5,676,764 (882,698) {64,634) - {10,817,644) {6,088,212)
$ 5713,582 §  (979.619) § 79,387 § - $ (11,428,775) § (6,615,425)

See notes to financlal stalementa,
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2015

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents

Other assets
Due from other funds

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable
Due to other funds

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET POSITION

Net position held in trust

TOTAL NET POSITION

Agency Trust
Funds Funds Total

$ 646,379 89,103 735,482
241,406 - 241,406

809 - 808

$ 888,594 89,103 977,697
$ 476,562 - 476,562
412,032 6,000 418,032
888,594 6,000 894,594

- 83,103 83,103

- 83,103 83,103

888,594 89,103 977,697

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION  §

See notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

ADDITIONS

Investment earnings

TOTAL ADDITIONS

DEDUCTIONS

Transfer to General Fund for
Culture and recreation expenditures

TOTAL DEDUCTIONS

CHANGE IN NET POSITION
NET POSITION HELD IN TRUST

BEGINNING OF YEAR

END OF YEAR

See notes to financial statements.
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Trust
Funds

30

30

4,063

4,063

(4,033)

87,136

$

83,103



CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
COMPONENT UNITS
DECEMBER 31, 2015

City of Dunkirk City of Dunkirk
Dunkirk Dunkirk Urban Industrial
Free Housing Renewal Development
Library Authorlty Agency Agency Total
ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 5 544659 § 392,526 $ - S 17,062 § 954,248
Investmenis - 443 484 - - 443 484
Accounts recelvable - 2,847 - - 2,847
Due from other governments - 10,352 - - 10,352
Prepald expanses - 38,320 - - 38,320
Other assets 14,645 22,419 - - 37,064
Capital assels
Land and improvements - 1,257,808 - - 1,257,808
Buildings and improvements 829,930 14,067,940 - - 14,897,870
Machinery and equipment 217,985 857,933 - - 1,175,918
Accumulated depreciation {357,491) (11,807,397) - - (12,164,888)
TOTAL ASSETS 1,249,728 5,386,232 - 17,083 6,653,023
DEFERRED QUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Pensions - 27,159 - - 27,159
LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable - 36,914 - - 35,914
Due to other governments - 49,562 - - 49,552
Deferred revenue 350,000 55,565 - - 405,565
Other current liabilities - 32,8568 - - 32,858
Current portion of long-term obligations - 20,518 - - 20,518
Noncurrent portion of long-term obligations - 184,660 - - 184,660
Net pension liability - 35,205 - - 35,205
TOTAL LIABILITIES 350,000 415,272 - - 765,272
NET POSITION
Net Investement in capital assets 690,424 4,476,284 - - 5,166,708
Restricted 37,865 - - - 37,565
Unrestricted 171,738 521,835 - 17,063 710,837
TOTAL NET POSITION 8 899728 $ 4998115 3§ - $ 17,062 $ 5914910

See notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

COMPONENT UNITS -

PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 21, 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Receipls from chargas and fees
Receipts from operaling grants
Paymenits to suppliers
Payments from other governments
Payments to employees
Other receipls

Net cash provided {used) by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Business-type Aclivities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Capital grants received

Acquisition and modemization of capital assets
Mold remediation

Proceads from disposition of assets

Net cash used by capital and related financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES -
Proceeds from sale of investments
Interest income received

Net cash provided by Investing activitles
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - beginning
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - ending

Reconciliation of operaling income 1o net cash provided (used)
by operaling aclivities:

Operating income {loss)
Adjustment to reconcile operating income to net cash provided {used)
by operaling activilies:
Depreciation
Deferred Qutflows of Resources
Change in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Dusa from other governments
Prepaid expenses
Accounls payable
Other current liabilities

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Dunkirk City of City of Dunkirk
Urban Dunkirk Industrial
Renawal Houslng Davelopment
Agency Authority Agency Total
$ N -] 725661 $ - 725,661
. 528,607 - 528,607
- (650,961} (800) (651,761)
- {11,044 - {11,044}
* {581,003) - {581,003)
- 17,478 - 17,478
- 28,738 {800) 27,938
- 157,403 - 157,403
- (172.579) g (172,579)
- 175 - 175
- {15,001} - {15,001)
- (695} - (695)
5 a0 - 904
- 209 - 209
- 13,946 {B00) 13,146
- 378,580 17,863 396,443
H - 8 392,526 § 17,063 409,589
H - % (598,338) § (800} (597,136)
- 603,715 - 803,715
4,980 - 4,980
- 8,112 - 8,112
0 39,414 - 39,414
- {4,058) - (4,059)
- (7.461) - (7.461)
- (17,527} - (17,627)
$ - $ 28,738 § {800) 27,938

See notes to linanciol staternents.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The basic financial statements of the City of Dunkirk, New York (the City) have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principlas {GAAP) as applied fo government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted
standard-setting body for establishing governmenta! accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant of the City's
accounting policies are described below.

A. Reporting Entity

Subject to the New York State Constitution, the City operates pursuant to its Charter and the City Code, as well as various local laws
Additionally, certain New York State laws govern the City to the extent that such laws are applicable to cities operating under a charter
form of government. The City of Dunkirk Common Council is the legislative body responsible for overzll oparations, the Mayor serves
as chief executive officer, and the City Treasurer serves as chief fiscal officer.

The City provides the following basic services: garbage collection, police and fire protection, recreation programming for youths and
adults, mainienance of parks, beaches and boat launches, maintenance of streels, water and sewer lines, regional water filtration
plant and sewage treatment facilities.

The financial reporting entity consists of (a) the primary govemment which is the City of Dunkirk, New York,
(b} organizations for which the primary government is financially accountable, and {c} other organizations for which the nature and
significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would cause the reporling entity's financial
statements to be misleading or incomplete as set forth in GASB Statement 14,

The decision to include a potential component unit in the City's reporting entity is based on several criteria set forth in GASS 14
inciuding legal standing, fiscal dependency, and financial accountability. Based on the application of these criteria, the following is a
brief review of cartain entities considered in determining the City's reporting entity.

1. INCLUDED IN THE REPORTING ENTITY

The City of Dunkirk Housing Authority {the Authority) was created in 1963 by the New York State Legistature, The governing board
of the Authority is appeinted by the Mayor except for two tenant representatives. The local government provides no subsidy to the
Authority ner is it responsible for debt or operating deficits of the Authority. The Authority is essentially supported by operating
subsidies from the U. S. Depariment of Housing and Urban Develfopment. The local government does not appolnt management of
the Authority nor does it approve the Authority's budget or hiring of staff. The local government has no oversight responsibility for
funds of the Authority,. However, per New York State directive, the Dunkirk Housing Autharity is considered a component unit of the

City and Is discretely presented. The inforration presented in thase financial statements for the Dunkirk Housing Authority is as of
June 30, 2015,

The Dunkirk Free Library {the Library) was established in 1904. The Library is administered by a Board of Directors; one directer is
appointed by the Common Council and the remaining directors are elected by members of the Library Board. The Library Board
designates management and exercises complete responsibility over fiscal matters. The local government has no oversight
responsibility over the funds of the Library, however, the City does provide a substantial portion of the operating costs for the Library.
The Library is considered a component unit of the City and is discretely presented,

The Dunkirk Urban Renewal Agency (the Agency) was established for the purpose of renovating and rehabilitating an economically
depressed area with the City. The Agency is presently inactive and yet it holds title to certain parcels of land that are unappraised.
The Dunkirk Urban Renewal Agency is a component unit of the City and is discrelely presented.

The City of Dunkirk Industrial Development Agency (the Agency) was established by the enactment of Section 890-a of the General
Municipal Law, effective Juna 17, 1971, as a special act of the New York State Legistature. The Agency is authorized under the Act
lo issue bonds to promote the ecenomic and industrial development of the State. The bonds are secured by pledges of any rents,
revenues and receipts as well as a lien on and a security interest in the projects being promoted. Neither the Agency nor the City
shall be held liable for repayment of these bonds out of any funds other than those pledged by the Agency. Members of the Board
of Directors of the Agency are appointed by and designated to serve at the pleasure of the City's Common Council. The City of
Dunkirk Industrial Development Agency is considered a component unit of the City and is discretely presented.



CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015
{Continued)

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {CONTINUED)
A. Reporting Entity , continued

Complete financial statements of these individual component units can be obtained from their respective administrative offices:

City of Dunkirk Housing Authority
15 North Main Street
Dunkirk, New York 14048

Dunkirk Free Library
536 Central Avenue
Dunkirk, New York 14048

Dunkirk Urban Renewal Agency
City Hall
Dunkirk, New York 14048

City of Dunkirk Industrial Development Agency
City Hall
Dunkirk, New York 14048

2. EXCLUDED FROM THE REPORTING ENTITY

Although the following organizations, functions or activities are refated to the City, they are not included in the City's reporting entity
based on the professional judgment of responsible local officials because of the reasons noted:

The Dunkirk City School District was created by state legislation which designated the school board as the governing authority.
School board members are elected by the qualified volers of the district. The school board designates management and exercises
complete responsibility for all fiscal matters. The City Common Council exercises no oversight over school operations.

The Dunkirk Local Development Corporation {the Corporation) is a special purpose development corporation organized by the City
under the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law of the State of New York. The corporation was created to purchase, leass, sublease, own,
hold, sell, assign or pledge various parcsls of real eslate throughout the City. The Corporation, on behalf of the City, manages a
low-interest revolving loan fund initially funded by the repayments of Urban Development Action Grant Loans, The Corporalion is

govemed by a Board of Directors comprised of business leaders and community representatives appointed by the City Common
Council,

B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (statement of net position and statement of activities) reporl information on all the
nonfiduciary activities of the City. Interfund aclivity has been removed from these statements. Governmental activities, which
normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are differentiated from business-type activities, which rely to a
significant extent on fees and charges for support. Curréntly the City does not operate any business-type aclivities. The primary

government is reported separately from cerain legally separate component units for which the primary government is financially
accountable,

The slatement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function are offset by program
revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function. Indirect expenses have been included as
a part of the program expenses reperted for the various functional activities. Program revenues include 1) charges to those who
purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function and 2) operating grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function. ltems not propery
included among program ravenues are reported instead as general revenues.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and fiduciary funds even though the fiduciary funds are excluded
from the government-wide financial statements.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

The government-wide and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and
the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred,
regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Granits and similar items are recognized as revenues as soon as all eligibility
requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

Reimbursements are reported as reductions to expenses. Fiduciary fund financial staternents also report using this same focus and
basis of accounting although Internal activity is not elimlnated in these stalements. Property tax revenues are recognized in the year
for which they are levied, while grants are recognized when grantor eligibility requirements are met.

Governmental fund stalements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual
basis of accounting. Revenues are recegnized when the underlying exchange transaction has occurred and the resources are
available. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if the City has collected the revenues in the current period
or expects to collect them soon enough after the end of the period fo use them to pay liabilities of the current period. Expenditures
generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, except for general obligation bond principal and interest and compensated
absences which are reported in the year due.

Properly laxes, licenses and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so
have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. Revenues accrued at December 31, 2015 are listed in Note 5.
Thera were no significant revenues considered as not subject to accrual,
Revenues from Federal, State or other grants designated for payment of specific City expenditures, are recognized when the related
expenditures are incurred, At fiscal year-end, excess recgipls over expendilures are recorded as deferred revenue. Any excess
expenditures over receipls are recorded as accounts receivable.

The City reports the following governmental funds, which are all considered major:

General Fund - This fund is the principal operating fund of the City and is used to account for all financial resources excepl those
required to be accounted for in other funds,

Water Fund - This fund is used to account for the revenues (primarily user charges) and expenditures re!ated to the cperation and
maintenance of the water filtration plant and water lines for residential and commercial users.

Wastewater Treatment Fund - This fund is used to account for the revenues (user charges) and expenditures of the wastewater
treatment plant for residential and commercial users.

Special Grant Fund - This fund is used to account for Community Development Block Grants and Small Cities Entittement Grants
from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development,

Capital Projects Fund - The capital projects fund is used to account for and report financial resources to be used for the
acquisition, construction or renovation of major capital facilities or equipment.

The City currently does not operate any proprietary funds,
Additionally, the City reports the following fund type:

Fiduciary Funds

Agency Fund - The Agency fund is custodial in nature and does not present resulis of operation nor have measurement focus. The
Agency Fund is accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting. This fund is used to account for assets that the
government holds for others in an agency capacity.

Trust Fund - The Trust Fund represents an expendable trust received and held by the City which can only be utilized for the benefit
of Recreation/Youth programs of the City.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {CONTINUED)

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation, continued

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements.

Amotunts reported as program revenues include {1) charges to customers or applicants far goods, services or privileges performed, (2)
operating grants and contributions, and (3) capital granis and contribulions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated
resources are reported as general revenues rather than program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes.

D. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

As required by Article V of the City Charter and Administrative Code, the City's annual procedures in establishing the budgetary data
reflected in the financial statements are as follows:

a.) On or before the first day of Oclober each year, the Mayor shall submit to the Common Council a proposed budget and capital
budgel together with a message concerning same for the ensuing year.

b.) The budget message shall describe the important features; outline the proposed capital programs; indicate major changes from
the current fiscal year in financial policles, expenditures, and revenues together with the reasons for such changes, summarize the
City's debt condition; and include such other material items as the Mayor may deem advisable.

c.) The proposed budget shall provide a complete financial plan of all City functions and activities for the ensuing year. The budget
shall be in such form as the Mayor may deem advisable and shall include: actual revenues and expenditures of the preceding fiscal
year; actual and estimated revenues and expenditures of the current fiscal year; all estimated revenues and proposed expenditures for
the ensuing fiscal year (inciuding detailed estimates of revenue from afl sources and the amount proposed to be raised by the tax levy
upon real estate). The proposed expendilures shall be itemized as follows: each office, department, board and commission shall be
listed separately showing the proposed amount for salaries and wages, supplies and other expenditures and the total thereof; reserve
for uncollected taxes; debt service; judgments and setllements outstanding not covered by insurance; capital program stating the
amount to be financed, if any, and the method thereof; special funds and purposes not otherwise contained in the budgat; anticipated
deficit, if any, of the current year and contingency fund.

d.) Immediately after the presentation of the proposed budgst to the Common Council, the mayor shall file same in the City Clerk’s
Office and cause sufficient copies of same and the budget message to be made for distribution to the public. The proposed budget
shall be a public record and shall be open to inspection by the public during regular business hours in the City Clerk's Office. Not iess
than five days prior to the date of the public hearing, the City Clerk shall cause to be published in the official newspaper of the City a
notice of public hearing which shall specify the date, time and place of the public hearing; the total amount of the proposed budget; the
amount thereof to be raised by taxes; the anticipated tax rate per thousand of assessed valuation and that copies of the proposed
budget are available to the public in the City Clerk's Office.

e.) The Common Council shall meet and conduct a public hearing at which the Mayor shall be present. Such public hearing shall be
held no later than November 15th.

f.) After conclusion of the public hearing, the Common Council shall consider the adoption of the proposed budget and may adjourn
from time to time untit is has fully considered and reviewed the proposed budget. The Common Council may add new programs or
amounts, and may increase, decrease or delete programs and amounis. Expenditures required by law, for debt service, estimated
deficits or estimated revenues may not be changed except to correct omissions or mathematical errors. The Common Council may,
however, decrease the amount of tax lavy for the ensuing fiscal year as proposed by the Mayor in proportion to such decreases in total
expenditures as it may have determined. If the Common Council shall increase the total expenditures, such increase shall be
included in the amount to be raised by taxes.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {(CONTINUED)
D. Budgets and Bu Accounting, continued

g.) Upon completion of the consideration and review of the proposed budgst, the Common Council, shall on or before the 15th day of
Decernber of each year, adopt a resolution approving the budget in the final form approved by it and shall forthwith adopt an
appropriation resclution and a resolution making a levy upon all the real property situated in the City fiable to taxation in the ensuing
year, The appropriation resolution shall be passed on the budget as adopted but need not be iternized further than by each office,
board, department, commission, fund and program. Upon adoption of the budget, the appropriation and tax levy resolutions, the City
Clerk shall fie a cerified copy of each with the City Treasurer and Fiscal Affairs Officer. The adoption of the budget shall constitute an
appropriation of the amounts, a levy of the amount to be raised by taxation therein stated, and a warrant to the City Treasurer to
spread and extend such levy upon current assessment tax rolis and to coliect the same.

h.) If a budget has not been adopted, as provided by the Charter, on or bafore the 15th day of December, the tentative City budget.
with amendmenits, if any, shall become the budget for the ensuing year.

i.} The amount of all taxes levied upon any parcel of real property shall, except as otherwise expressly provided by law, be and
become a lien thereon as of the first day of January of the fiscal year for which levied and shall remain a lien until pald.

j.) Fermal annuat budgetary accounts are adopted and employed for control of all governmental funds except the special grant fund
and the caplial projects fund. These budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the
Uniled Stales except that encumbrances are treated as budgetary expenditures in the year of occurrence of the commitment to
purchase. Al unencumbered appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year. Budgetary comparisons presented in this report are
on the budgetary basis and represent the budget as modified. This results in the following reconciliations of fund balances computed
on a GAAP basis and a budgetary basis:

Wastewater
General Walter Treatment
Fund Fund Fund
GAAP Basis:

Fund Balances (Deficit) - 12/31/15 $5,713,582 ($979,619) $79,387
Deduct outstanding encumbrances 86,103 16,466 41,479
Budgetary Basis:

Fund Balances (Deficit) - 12/3115 $5,627.479 {$996,085) $37,008

k.) Total expendilures for each activity may not legaliy exceed the total appropriations for that activity. Encumbrances outstanding at
year end are accounted for by a reservation of fund balance.

1.} Formal annual capital budgets and five year projections of capital needs are adopted by the Common Council for control of capital
expenditures.

m.) Budgetary controls for the Special Grant Fund are established in accordance with the applicable grant agreement which covers a
period cther than the City's fiscal year.

n.} At January 1, the amount of encumbrances carried forward from the prior year are reestablished. These increases amounted to
$65,576;, $6,009 and $70,005 in the General, Water and Wastewater Treatment Funds, respectively. During the year ended
December 31, 2015, supplemental appropriations (including the prior year encumbrances) of $1,089,311; $5,532 and $62,424 were
approved in the General, Water and Wastewater Treatment Funds, respectively.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {(CONTINUED)

E. Encumbrances

Encumbrances represent commitments related to unperformed contracts for goods and services. Encumbrance accounting, under
which purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for the expenditure of monies are recorded in order to reserve that portion of
the applicable appropriation, is employed as an extension of budgetary control in the governmental funds. Encumbrances outstanding
al year end are reported as reservations of fund balances since they do not constitute expenditures or liabilities.

F. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Investments are staled at fair value. Cash includes amounts in demand deposits as well as short-term investments with a maturity
date within three months of the date acquired by the City.

G, Capital Assets

The City's property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure with useful lives of more than one year are stated at historical cost and
comprehensively reported in the government-wide financial statements. The City maintains infrastructure asset records consistent
with all cther capital assets. Donated assets are stated at fair value on the date donated. The City generally capitalizes assets with
costs of $1,000 or more as purchase and construction outlays occur. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add 1o
the asset value or materially extend useful lives are not capitalized. Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method.
When capital assets are disposed of, the cost and applicable accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective accounts,
and the resulting gain or loss is recorded in operations. Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects
are incurred.

Property, plant, and equipment of the City is depreciated using the straight line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Assets Years
Buildings 40
Building improvements 20
Land improvements 20
Infrastructure:
Sanitary sewers 50
Water mains 50
Storm drains 50
Traffic control systems 20
Roads 20
Sidewalks 20
Machinery and equipment:
Office equipment and furniture 10-15
Heavy equipment 10
Vehicles 10
Other 8
Computers 5
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {CONTINUED)

H. Deferred Qutflow ! Inflow

in addition to assets, the staterment of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources.
This separate financial statement element, deferred oulfiows of rasources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a
future period and so will not be recognized as an cutflow of resources (expense/expenditure} until then. At December 31, 2015, the
City has one item that qualifies for reporting in this category. This item is related to pensions reported in the government-wide
financial statements, as well as within individual proprietary funds. This represents the effect of the net change in the City's proportion
of the collective net position asset or liability, the difference during the measurement period between the City's contributions and its
proportionate share of the total contribution to the pension systems not included in the pension expense, and any contributions to the
pension systems made subsequent to the measurement date.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources.
This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources represenis an acquisition of net position that applies io a
future period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resourcas (revenue) until that time, At December 31, 2015, the City did not
have any items that qualify for reporting in this category.

l. Proparty Tax Revenua Recognition

The City-wide property tax is levied by the Common Council effective January 1 of the year the taxes ara recognizable as revenue.
Taxes become a lien on the related property on January 1st of the year for which they are levied. In the government-wide statements,
property tax receivables and related revenue include all amounts due the City regardless of when cash is received. The City acts as
the collection agent for the County of Chautauqua for County taxes levied on properties within the City. The City also collects schoo!
taxes for the local school district for remission to them. During 1994, the City entered an agreement with the County of Chautauqua
whereby unpaid City and school taxes are to be turned over for enforcement. The agreement with the County of Chautauqua was
renewed on March 10, 2014 for the 2014, 2015 and 2016 tax years. The County reimburses the City for unpaid taxes and relevies
unpaid taxes as County taxes in the subsequent year.

J. Compensated Absances

City employees are granted vacation, personai and sick leave and compensatory time in varying amounts. In the event of termination
or upon retirement, an employee is enlitled to payment for accumulated vacation, sick leave and unused compensatory absences at
various rates subject to certain conditions, maximum limitations and union affiliations.

Compensaled absences are reporled as accrued in the government-wide financial statements. Governmental funds report only
matured compensated absences payable to currently terminating employees and are included in wages and benefits.

Payment of compensated absences recorded in the general government jong-term debt in the government-wide financial statements
Is dependent upon many factors; therefore, timing of future payment is not readily determinable. However management believes that
sufficient resources will be made available for the future payment of compensated absences when such paymenis become due.

K. Due to Retirement System and Penslons

Amounis owed to the State Retirement Systems for wages of employees of the city, but not yet billed, are reported as [labilitiss in the
financial statements

The City is mandated by New York State law to participate in the New York State Local Employees' Retirement System ("ERS") and
the New York State Police and Fire Retirement System ("PFRS") . For purposes of measuring the net pension (asset)/iability,
deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about fiduciary net position of the defined
benefit pension plans, and changes thereof, have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the respeclive defined
benefit pension plans. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and

payable in accordance with benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. More information regarding pensions is included in
Note 8
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOLUNTING POLICIES {CONTINUED)
L. Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires managemeni {o make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounis of revenues, expenditures, assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and during the reported period
Actual results could differ from those estimales and those differences could be significant.

M. Accounting and Reporting Changes

In June 2012, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued Statement No. 68 - Accounting and Financiaf Reporling
for Pensions - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27- This Statement is to improve accounting and financial reporling by state
and local governments for pensions. It also improved information provided by state and local governmental employers about financial
support for pensions that is provided by other entities. The City implemented Statement No. 68 effective for the year ended December
31, 2015. The effect of the adoption of GAS8 Statement No. 68 is described in Note 2.

During November 2013, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued Statemnent No. 71 - Pension Transition for
Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68, This Statement is to address
an issue regarding application of the transition provisions of Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Fensions. The
issue relates to amounts associated with contributions, il any, made by a state or local government employer after the measurement
date of the govenments beginning net pension liability. The effect of the adoption of GASB Statement No, 71 is described in Note 2.

N. Future Impacts of Accounting Pronouncements

The City has not completed the process of evaluating the impact that will result from adopting Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB) Statement No. 72 - Fair Value Measurement and Applicalion, effective for the year ending December 31, 2016; GASB
Statement No. 73 - Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Refated Assels That Are Not within the Scope of GASB
Statement 68, and Amendments to Cerlain Provisions of GASB Stalemenis 67 and 68, effective for the year ending December 31,
2016 - except those provisions that address employers and governmental nonemployer contributing entities for pensions that are not
within the scope of Statement 68, which are effective for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017, GASB Statement No. 74 -
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefil Plans Other Than Pensions, effective for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017;
GASB Statement No. 75 - Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postempioyment Benefits Other Than Pensions, effective for the
fiscal year ending December 31, 2018; GASB Siatement No. 76 - The Hierarchy of Generally Accepied Accounting Principles for
Stale and Local Governments, effective for the year ending December 31, 2016, GASB Statement No 77 - Tax Abafement
Disclosures , effective for the year ending December 31, 2016; GASB Statement No. 78 - Pensions Provided through Certain Multiple-
Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plans, effective for the year ending December 31, 2016; GASB Statement No. 79 - Certain
External Invastment Pools and Pool Pardicipants, effective for the year ending December 31, 2016; GASB Staterment No. 80 -
Biending Requirements for Certain Component Units- an amendment of GASB Statement No. 14, effective for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2017; GASB Statement No. 81 - Imevocable Spiit-interest Agreemenis, effective for the fiscal year ending December
31, 2017; and GASB Statement No. B2 - Pansion Issues- an amendment of GASB Stalements No. 67, No. 68, and No. 73, effective
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017, except for the requirements of paragraph 7 in a circumstance in which an employer's
pension liability is measured as of a date other than the employer's most recent fiscal year-end. In that circumsiance, the
requiremnents of paragraph 7 are effective for that ermnployer in the first reporting period in which the measurement date of the person
liability is on or after June 15, 2017.
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NOTE 2 - RESTATEMENT OF NET POSITION

For the fiscal year ended Decamber 31, 2015, the City and ils component units implemented GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Pensions - an amendment of GASE Statemant No. 27, and GASB Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for
Contributions Made Subsequent lo the Measurement Dale - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68. The implementation of GASB
Statements No. 68 and No. 71 resulted in the reporting of an asset, deferred outflows of resources, a liability and a deferred inflow of
resources related to the entities' participation in the New York State Employees' and Police and Fire Relirement Systems.

Primary
Government Component Unit
Govemmental
Activities Net
Position Net Position
Net Pesition - December 31, 2014, as previously stated $ 16,603,460 $ 6,447,823
GASB Statements No. 68 and No. 71:
Beginning System Liability-
Police and Fire Retirement System (706,553) -
Beginning System Liability-
Employees' Relirement System (597,497) (47,092)
Beginning deferred outflow of resources for contributions subsequent
to the measurement date:
Police and Fire Retirement System 344,034 -
Employees' Retirement System 225 289 32,138
Net Position- December 31, 2014, as reslated $ 15868.733 $ 6,432 B69

et ey

NOTE 3 - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, ACCOUNTABILITY

A. Deficit Fund Balances

At December 31, 2015, the Capital Project Fund had a deficit fund balance in the amount of $11,764,775. The deficit was caused by
(a} debt ralating to the activity is considered to be a fund liability rather than a source of financing to be reporied as revenue and
(b} expenditures to date exceeded revenues 1o dale. Revenue related to the debt, under the modified accrual basis, is not racognized
as revenue until the debt is repaid from appropriations or the debt is refinanced on a long-term basis, The deficit fund balance will
evantually be eliminated as the bond anticipation notes are retired. Management believes that sufficient revenues will be generated
by the end of the project to cover the additional project expendilures incurred.

At December 31, 2015, the Water Fund had a deficit fund balance in the amount of $979,619. The deficit was caused by expenditures
in prior years exceeding prior year revenues. Expenditures in the current year and prior years were over-expended due to increases in
utifities, chemicals, repairs to equipment, sewer fees, contracted services, and equipment purchases thal were not anticipated.
Management has Iincreased water rates in an attempt to correct the cumulative deficit.

B. Overdrawn Appropriations

Expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2015 materially exceeded appropriations in the General and Waler Funds, See pages
44 and 45 for detail by functional area.

NOTE 4 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS

The City's investment policies are governed by state statules and various resolutions of the Common Council. City moneys must be
deposited in FDIC-insured commercial banks or trust companies localed within the state, The Treasurer is authorized to use demand
accounts and cerlificates of deposit. Permissible investments include obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies, repurchase
agreaments, and obligations of New York State or its localities. Collateral is required for demand deposits and certificates of deposit at
102% of all deposits not covered by federal deposit insurance. Obligations that may be pledged as coliateral are obligations of the United
States and its agencies and obligations of New York State and its municipalities and school districts.
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(Continued)
NOTE 4 . CASH AND INVESTMENTS, CONTINUED
The detail of cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2015 is as follows: Carrying
Amount
Petty cash $ 1,400
Deposits {checking account) 3,437,807
Cash and cash equivalents {savings and CDs) 1,557,478
Total 5 4,896,685
Cash and cash equivalents maintained by the City at December 31, 2015 consist of: Amount
Govemment activities 5 4,261,203
Fiduciary activities 735482
Total 3 4 996 685
Deposits - All deposits are carried at cost plus accrued interest. Bank
Balance
Insured (FDIC) 3 500,000
Uninsured -
Collateral held by bank's agent in City's name 4,766,304
Total deposits S 5,266 304

At December 31, 2015, the City did not have any investments cther than cash and cash equivalents.
Investments - All investments are carried at the lower of cost or market and are categorized in the following manner.
Category 1 - Insured or registered, or securities held by the City or its agent in the City's name
Category 2 - Uninsured and unregistered, with securities held by the counterparty’s trust department, or agent in the City's name.
Categery 3 - Uninsured and unregistered, with no securitization of the investments.
NOTE 5 - PROPERTY TAX

The City-wide property tax is levied each January 1, which is also the lien date. Property taxes are collected during the period April 1
through May 6 of esch year. The County assumes enforcement responsibility for all taxes levied by the City.

Tax rates are calculated using assessments prepared by City Assessors as adjusted by the New York State Board of Equalization and
Assessment for the purpose of comparability. The lota! taxable assessed value of real properly included in the tax levy of 2015 was
approximately $280 million. The effective tax rate on this value is approximately $17.30 per thousand. The statutory maximum tax rate is
2.0% of the 5-year average of the equalized assessment. The 2015 levy represents approximately 60.96% of the maximum statutory
levy

The City constitutional tax limit for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 is computed as follows:

Five year Average Full Valuation

of Taxable Rea! Estate (2011 - 2015) 3 331,717,243

Tax timit @ 2.0% $ 6,634,345
Total Tax Levy 4,837,477
Less: Exclusions 793,158
Total Levy Subject to Tax Limil 4,044 319
Tax Margin $ 2,590,026
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NOTE & - RECEIVABLES

Revenues accrued by the City consist of the following:

A. Other Receivables - represents amounts due from various sources.

Funds:
General Fund $ 557,773
Whater Fund 761,508
Wastewater Fund 844,948
Total - 2,164,230

B. Due from Other Governments - State and federal receivables primarily represent claims for reimbursement of expenditures incurred
related o the community development small cities program and various state aided programs. They are net of related advances from
New York State. Slate and federal receivables also include reimbursable amounts for construction expenditures made through the
Capital Project Fund. Other government receivables are amounts primarily due from other local municipalites and other
miscellanegus items.

Amounts accrued at December 31, 2015 are comprised of;

State and Federal Receivables

General Fund 3 416,442
Special grant 27,214
Capital Projects Fund 432,923
Total state and federal receivables 876,579
Other Government Receivables
General Fund 602,740
Tota! other government receivables 602,740
Total due from other governments $ 1,479,319
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NOTE 7 - CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2015 was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balances Increases Decreases Balances
Governmental activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated
Land % 151,155 $ - - $ 151,155
Construction in progress 26,018,283 4,233,743 - 30,252,026
Total capital assets not
being depraciated 26,169,438 4,233,743 - 30,403,181
Capital assets being depreciated:
Infrastruciures 34,704,071 - - 34,704 071
Buildings and improvements 12,420,179 - - 12,420,179
Machinery and equipment 16,847 918 61,615 - 16,909,533
Total capital assets being depreciated 63,972 168 61615 - 64,033,763
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Infrastructures 32,506,775 116,892 - 32,623,667
Buildings and improvements 10,545,232 143,609 - 10,688,841
Machinery and equipment 15,134,685 432 852 - 15,567,837
Total accumulated depreciation 58,186,892 693,353 - 58 880,345
Total capital assels being
depreciated, net 5,785,176 (631,738) - 5,153,438
Governmental activities capital assels, net % 31,954 614 $ 3,602,005 - 3 35,556,619
Depreciation expense was charged to the governmental functions as follows:
Shared services $ 11,993
Police department 23923
Fire department 75,919
Transportation 200,563
Culture and recreation 20,250
Water depariment 185,340
Wastewater depariment 172,685
Other home and community service 2,640
Tolal depreciation expense S 693,353

NOTE 8 - LIABILITIES

A. Pansion Plans

a.) Plan Description

The City of Dunkirk participates in the New York and Local Employees’ Retirement System {ERS), the New York State and Local
Police and Fire Relirement System (PFRS) and the Public Employees' Group Life Insurance Plan (System). These are cost-sharing
multiple-employer relirement systems. The Systems provide retirement benefils as well as death and disability benefits
Cbligations of employers and employees to contribute and benefits to employees are governed by the New York Stale Retirement
and Social Security Law (NYSRSSL). As set forth in the NYSRSSL, the Comptroller of the State of New York (Complrolier) serves
as sole trustee and administrative head of the Systems. The Comptroller shall adopt and may amend rules and regulations for the
administration and transaction of the business of the Systems and for custody and controf of its funds. The Systems issue a publicly
available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information. Thal report may be obtained
by writing to the New York State and Local Retirement Systerns, 110 State Street, Albany, NY 12244,
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{Continued}

NOTE 8 - LIABILITIES, (CONTINUED)
A. Pension Plans, continued

b.} Funding Palicy
The Systems are nonconiributory except for employees who joined the New York State and Local Employees’ Retirement System
after July 27, 1976 who contribute 3% of their salary for the first ten years of membership. Under the authority of the NYSRSSL, the

Comptroller annually certifies the rates expressed used in computing the employers' contributions. The required contributions for
the currant and two praceding years were:

ERS PFRS
2015 5 777.829 5 953,266
2014 901,158 1,376,136
2013 855,082 1,389,150

The City's contributions made to the systems were equal to 100 percent of the contributions required for each year.

c.) Pension Liabilitles, Penslon Expense, and Deferred Qutflows of Resources

and Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

Al December 31, 2015, the City reported the following liabilities for its proportionate share of the net pension liabilities for PFRS and
ERS. The net pension liabilitias were measured as of March 31, 2015. The total pension liabilities used to calculate the net pension
liabilities were determined by actuarial valuations as of Aprii 1, 2014, with update procedures used to roll forward the total nel
pension liabfities to the measurement date. Tha Clty's proportion of the net pension liabilities was based on projections of the City's
long-term share of contributions to the System relative to the projected contributions of all participating members, actuarially
determined. This information was provided by the System in reports provided by the City.

Measurement date March 31, 2015 March 31, 2015
Net pension liabilty 3 395,059 k] 528,210
City's portion of the Plan's total

net pension liability 0.1435222% 0.0156356%

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the City recognized pension expenses of $1,058,983 and $808,661, respectively, for PFRS

and ERS. At December 31, 2016, the City reported deferred outflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows
of Resources
PFRS ERS

Ditference between expected and

aclual experiences $ 47,642 $ 16,909
Net difference between projected

and actual garnings on pension

plan investments 132,634 91,743
Changes in proportion and differences

between the City's contributions and

propartionate share of contributions 64,453 108,901

Total 5 244,729 3 217,553
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NOTE 8 - LIABILITIES,(CONTINUED)
A. Pension Plans, continued

c.) Pension Liabllities, Penslon Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources ,continued
The City's contributions subsequent fo the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pensicn liability in the ysar

ended December 31, 2015. Other amounts exported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in
pension expense as follows;

Year Ending PFRS ERS
2016 3 55,578 3 54,388
2017 55,578 54,388
2018 55,578 54,388
2018 55,578 54,388
2020 22,418 -
Thereafter - -

d.) Actuarial Assumptions
The total pension liabilities as of the measurement date were determined by using actuarial valuations as noted in the tabla below,

with update procedures used to roill forward the total pension liabilities to the measurement date. The actuarial valuations used the
following actuarial assumptions:

PFRS ERS

Measurement Date March 31, 2015 March 31, 2015
Actuarial valuation date April 1, 2014 April 1, 2014
Interest rate 7.50% 7.50%
Salary scale 6.00% 4.90%
Decrement tables April 1, 2015- April 1, 2015-

March 31, 2010 March 31, 2010
Inflation rate 2.7% 2.7%

Annuitant mortality rates are based on April 1, 2005 - March 31, 2010 System's experience with adjustments for mortality
improvements based on Society of Actuaries' Scale MP - 2014,

The acluarial assumptions used in the April 1, 2014 valuation are based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the
period April 1, 2005 - March 31, 2010.

The tong-term rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building block methed in which best estimates
ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns net of investments expense and inflation) are developed for each
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected fulure
real rates of return by each the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of the arithmetic
real rates of return for each majer asset class included in the target asset allocation are summarized below.

PFRS and ERS
Long-Term
Expected Real
Target Allocation Rate of Return

Measurement date March 31, 2015

Asset Class:
Domestic equities 38.0 % 7.3 %
International equities 13.0 8.6
Private equity 10.0 11.0
Real estate 8.0 8.3
Absolute return strategies 3.0 6.8
Opportunistic porifolio 30 8.6
Real assels 30 8.7
Bond and mortgages 18.0 4.0
Cash 20 23
Inflation-indexed bonds 2.0 4.0

Total 100.0%

-36-



CITY OF DUNKIRK
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015
{Continued)

NOTE 8 - LIABILITIES, (CONTINUED)

A. Pension Plans, continued

a.} Discount Rate
The discount rate used to calculate the total pension ligbilities was 7.5%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the
discount rate assumes that contributions from plan members will be made at the current contribution rates and that contributions
from employers will be made at statutorily required rates, actuarially. Based upon the assumplions, the System's fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefors, iong-term

expected rate of retumn on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total
pension liability,

£.) Sensitivity of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to the Discount Rate Assumption
The chart below presents the City's proportionate share of the net pension liabilities calculated using the discount rale of 7.5%, as
well as what the City's proportionate share of the net pension liabilities would be If they were calculated using a discount rate that is
one percentage-point lower {6.5%) or ane percentage-point higher (8.5%) than the current assumption.

1% Current 1%
Decrease Assumption Increase
(6.5%) {7.5%) (8.5%)
Employer's proportionale share
of the net pension liability-PFRS $ 5,259,998 3 395,059 3 (3,682,054)
Employer's proportionate share
of the net pension liability-ERS 3,520,731 528,210 (1,958,236)

g.} Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position
The components of the current-year net pension liabilities of the employers as of the valuation dates, were as follows:

{Dollars in Thousands)

PFRS ERS Tota!
Valuation date March 31, 2015 March 31, 2015
Employer's total pension liability $ 395,059 5 528,270 $ 923,269
Plan fiduciary net position 391,227 517,382 908,609
Employer's nel pension liability 5 3,832 3 10,628 3 14,660

System fiduciary net position as a
percentage of total pension liability 99.03% 97.95% 98,11%

h.) Payables to the Pension Plan
Employer contributions are paid annually based on the System's fiscal year which ends on March 31. Accrued retirement
contributions as of December 31, 2015 represent the projected employer contribution for the pericd of April 1, 2015 through

December 31, 2015 based on pald System wages multiplled by the employers contribution rate, by tier. Accrued retirement
contributions as of December 31, 2015 amounted to $714,945 and $583,372 for PFRS and ERS, respeclively.

B. Postamployment Benefits Other Than Pensions

a.) Plan Description
The City of Dunkirk administers a single-employer defined benefit healthcare plan ("the Reliree Heallh Plan®), The plan provides
healthcare to a single disabled retiree until the age of 70 through the City's group health insurance plan, which covers both active
employees and the above mentioned retired member. Benefit provisions were established through negotiations between the City
and union representing City employees and are renegotiated as each bargaining period expires,

b.} Funding Policy

Contribution requirements of the Retiree Health Plan by the City are established and may be amended through negotiations
between the City and the bargaining units. The contribution is based on pay-as-you-go financing requirements. For the year ended
December 31, 2015, the City contributed $14,723, or 73.71%, of the actuarially required contributions, {o the Retiree Health Plan.
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NOTE 8 - LIABILITIES {CONTINUED)

B. Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, continued

¢.) Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation
The City's annual other postemployment benefits (OPEB) cost is calculated based on the annual required contribution (ARC). The
City has elected to calculate the ARC and related information using the alternative measurement method permilted by GASB
Statement 45 for employers in plans with fewer than one hundred tota! plan members. The ARC represents a level of funding that,
if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and to amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities {or funded

The following table shows the components of the City's annual OPEB cost over the year, the amount actually contributed to the plan,
and changes in the City's net OPEB obligation to the Retiree Health Plan:

Annual required contribution $ 19,975
Interest on net OPEB obligation {1,041)
Adjustment to annual required contribution -
Annua! OPEB cost (expense) 18,834
Contribution made {14,723)
Increase in net OPEB obligation 4,211
Net OPEB obligation - beginning of year 27 656
Net OPEB cbligation - end of year 3 31,867

The City's annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB obtigation
(prepayment) for 2015 is as follows:

Percentage of Net

Year Annual Annua! OPEB OPEB

Ended OPEB Cost Cost Contributed Obligation
121312011 $ 21,923 107.45% $ (221)
121312012 36,455 69.67% 10,844
121312013 36,455 72.25% 19,978
1213112014 30,646 74.95% 27,656
1213112015 16,934 73.71% 31,867

d.) Funded Status and Funding Progress
As of July 1, 2015, the most recent actuariat vaiuation date, the funded status of the Retiree Health Plan was as follows:

Acluarial accrued liability (AAL) 3 51,084
Actuarial value of plan assets -
Unfunded actuarial accrued liability {UAAL) b 51,084
Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 0.0%
Annual covered payroll (active plan members) 5 =
UAAL as a percentage of annual coverad payroll 0.0%

e.) Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Actuarial vajuations of an ongoing plan invelve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of
occurrence of events in the fulure. Examples, include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the health care cost
trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contribution of the employer are subject
fo continual revision as actual results are compared with past expeclations and new estimates are made about the future, The
schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information, following the notes to the financial statements,
presents multi-year trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative
to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.
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NOTE 8 - LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

B. Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions {continued})

e.) Actuarial Methods and Assumptions, continued
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan understood by the employer and

plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of
benefit costs batween the employer and plan members lo that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include
techniques that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assels,
consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.

In the July 1, 2015 actuarial valuation, the alternative measurement mathod was used. Based on the historical and expected returns
of the City's short-term investment porifolio, a discount rate of 5.5 percent was used. In addition, a simplified version of the
projection of future benefit payments was used.

C. Short Term Debt

Liabilities for bond anticipation notes (BANs) are generally recorded in the capital projects fund. The notes or renewals thereof may
not extend more than two years beyond the original date of issue unless a portion is redeemed within two years and within each twelve
month period thereafter.

State law requires that BANs issued for capital purposes be converted to long-term obligations within five years after the original issue
date. However BANs issued for assessable improvement projects may be renewed for periods equivalent to the maximum life of the
permanent financing, provided that stipulated annual reductions of principal are made.

The following is an analysis of outstanding BANs at December 31, 2015:

Maturity Interest
Fund Description Amcunt Date Rate
Capital projects Consolidated Water System /Seawalt 12,814,000 372412016 0.75%
3 12814000

Revenue anticipation notes (RANs) may be issued in anticipation of collection of revenues other than real estate taxes for meeting
expenditures payable from the type of revenus for which the borrowing was made. RANs must mature within one year and may be
renewed from time to time, but each renewal shall be for a period not exceeding one year, During the year ended December 31, 2015,
the City did not issue, renew or repay any RANs.

Tax Anticipation Notes (TANs) may, up to the maximum authorized by statute, be lssued against the anticipated collection of taxes or
assessments levied or to be levied against real property. These notes may be renewed for a period not to exceed one year and must
be retired within five years of the original issue, During the year anded December 31, 2015, the City did not issue, renew or repay any
TANs.,

a.) Constitutional Debt Limit

The City constitutional debt limit at December 31, 2015 is computed as follows:

Five-Year Average Full Valuation
of Taxable Real Estate (2010 - 2014) 3 325,805,694

ﬂ
Debt Limit @ 7% $ 22,806,399
Net indebtednass (after statutory exclusions) 420,000
Net Debt Contracting Margin 3 22,386,399
Percentage of Debt Contracting Power Exhausted 1.84%
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NOTE 8 - LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

C. Short Term Debt, continued

ial B

The City borrows money in order 1o acquire land or equipment or construct buildings and improvements. This enables the cost of
these capital assets to be borne by the present and future taxpayers receiving the benefit of the capital assets. These long-term
liabilities, which are full faith and credit debt of the local govemment are recorded in the governmental funds in the government-wide

financial statements.

¢.} Compensated Absences
As explained in Note 1, compensated absences are recorded in the government-wide financial statements, Governmental funds
report only matured compensated absences payable to currently terminating employees which are included in wages and benefits.
The amount that are considerad current and payable within one year is estimated at $250,000.

d.] Summary of Changes in General Long Term Debt
The following is a summary of changes in general long-term liabilities:

Balance Balance
01/01/2015 Increases Decreases 12/31/2015
Serial bonds 3 4,870,000 $ 3,180,000 5 315,000 $ 7,735,000
Compensated absences 4,176,580 - 74,562 4,102,018
3 9,046,580 5 3,180,000 $ 389,562 3 11,837,018
Additions and deletions to compensated absences are shown net since it is impractical to
determine these amounts separately.
e.) Long Term Debt Maturity Schedule
The following is a summary of long term liabilities.
Outstanding
Date Maturity Interest Original Balance
Purpose Issued Date Rate Amount 121312015
Pubiic improvement
Boardwalk Marks 11/10/2011 11/1/2021 2.50-3.75% 650,000 $ 420,000
Water tfreatment
plant renovation 9/1/2008 51172033 4.25-4.75% 4,539,000 3,410,000
Water treatment
plant renovation 4/4/2010 5172015 2.69% 280,000 -
Public improvement
Water Meters /282013 ING2033 3.375-4.00% 785,000 725,000
Water Filtration
mprovements 3/28/2015 31251935 2.5-3.0% 3,180,000 3,180,000
3 7,735,000
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NOTE 8 - LIABILITIES {CONTINUED)
C. Short Term Debt. continued
f.) Future Debt Service Requiremen

The following table summarizes the City's future debt service requirements as of December 31, 2015;

Serial Bonds
YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, Principal Interest

2016 3 410,000 L] 277,781
2017 415,000 263,994
2018 425,000 249,819
2019 440,000 234,813
2020 455,000 219,122
2021-2025 2,080,000 834,053
2026-2030 1,950,000 473,047
2031-2035 1,560,000 113,800

TOTAL 5 7,735,000 3 2,666,529

NOTE 8 - EQUITY CLASSIFICATIONS
A. Government-wide Statements
in the government-wide statements, there are three classes of net position:

Net investment In Capital Assets - This class consisls of net capital assets {cost less accumulated depreciation) reduced by
outstanding balances of related debt cbligations from the acquisition, construction or improvements of these assets.

Restricted Net position - Restricted net position reports constrainls placed on assets that are either legally imposed by creditors (such

as through covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments, or imposed by law through constitutional
provisions or enabling legistation.

Restrictions of net position have been recorded in the govermment-wide financial statements of the City at December 31, 2015. At
December 31, 2015, the City has recorded the following restrictions:

Restricted for Capital Equipment - represents resources that are committed for future capital equipmant acquisitions.

Restricled for Tax Stabilization - represents resources approprialed by the Common Council to keep future tax increases at a
minimum in any fiscal year.

Restricled for Employee Benefits - represents resources to be used to help minimize the financial burden of futurs employae benafit
increases.

Restricled for Street improvements - represents resources that are commitied for future street construction.
Restricled for Encumbrances - represents commitments related to unperformed {executory) contracts for goods or services.

Unrestricted Net Position - Designations are not legally required restrictions, but are segregated for a specific purpose. At December
31, 2015, the City had not designated any unrestricted net position,
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NOTE 9 - EQUITY CLASSIFICATIONS, (CONTINUED)

B. Fund Statements

tn the fund basis statements there are five classifications of fund balance:

Non-Spendable - includes amounts that cannot be spent because they aré either not in spendable form or legally or contractually
required to be maintained intact. The City does not have any nonspendable fund balance at December 31, 2015.

Restricted - includes amounts with constraints placed on the use of resources either exiernally imposed by creditors, grantors,
contributors or laws or regulations of other governments; or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. All
encumbrances of funds other than the General Fund are classified as restricted fund balance. The City has established the following
restricted fund balances:

Tax Stabilization - represent funds that may be appropriated to keep future tax increases at a minimum in future years. The
Common Council did not appropriate any of these funds in developing the 2015 or 2016 General Fund budgets.

Other Fund Activities - represents resources accumulated by specia! revenue and or capilal project funds dedicated to be used for
the purpose for which the fund was created.

Encumbrances - Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts and other commitmenis of expenditures are
recorded for budgetary control purposes in order to reserve applicable appropriations, is employed as a conirol in preventing over-
expenditure of established appropriations. Open encumbrances are reported as restricted fund balance in all funds other than the
General Fund, since they do not constitute expenditures or liabilities and will be honored through budget appropriations in the
subsequent year.

Committed - includes amounts that can only be used for the specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action of the
City's highest level of decisicn making authority, I.e., the Common Council. At December 31, 2015 the City did not have any committed
fund balances.

Assigned - includes amounts that are constrained by the City's intent to be used for specific purposes, but are neither restricled nor
committed. The City has the following assigned fund balances:

Capital Equipment - represents resources set aside by the Common Council fo be used for the acquisition of capitai equipment,
Street Improvements - represents resources set aside by Common Council for improvements to city streets.

Employee Benefits - represents resources set aside to help minimize the financial burdan of future employee benefit increases.
Encumbrances - All encumbrances of the General Fund are classified as assigned fund balance,

Unassigned - includes all other General Fund net position that does not meetl the definition of the above four classifications and are
deemed to be available for general use by the City.

Order of Use of Fund Balance - The City's policy is to apply expenditures against nonspendable fund balance, restricted fund balance,
committed fund balance, assigned fund balance and unassigned fund balance at the end of the fiscal year. For all funds, nonspendable
fund balances are determined first and then restricted fund balances for specific purposss are determined. Any remaining fund balance
amounts for funds other than the General Fund are classified as restricted fund balance. In the Gaeneral Fund, commitied fund balance is
determined nexi and then assigned. The remaining amounts are reported as unassigned. Assignments of fund balance cannot cause a
negative unassigned fund balance.
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NOTE 10 - CONTINGENCIES

A. Lease Commitments and Leased Assets

The City leased various equipment and property during 2015 under a number of operating leases. Total rental expenditures for the
year ended Dacember 31, 2015 were approximately $52,534.

The minimum future non-cancelable operating lease payments are as follows:

Year ending December 31, 2016 $ 20,751
2017 4312
2018 4,042
2019 1,011

B. Grant and Aid Programs

The City receives significant financial assistance from numerous federal and state agencies. The receipt of such funds generally
requires compliance with terms and condilions specified in the grant agreemenis and is subject to audit by the grantor agencies.
During 2014 the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development completed its review of the City's utilization and administration
of certain Community Development Block Grants ("CDBG") funds over the past several years. As a result of such review, HUD
delermined that various allocations of certain CDBG funds were noncompliant with certain HUD protocols and guidelines and directed
the City to relmburse the CDBG program monies delineated for various uses, The City and HUD have reached an agreement
whereby the City remitted a total of $750,000 through December 31, 2015 and has a Voluntary Grant Reduction during the 2016
program year,

C. Litigation

The City is party to various legal proceedings which normally oceur in governmental operations. The City believes that ils ultimate
liability, if any, in connection with these matters, will not have a material effect on the City's financial condition or results of operations.

D. Environmental Remediation

The City's policy is not to take possession or ownership of properiies with polential or known pollution remediation issues. The City
currently does not have any properties with pollution remediation obligations where the City retains ownership rights that have either
been remediated or have grant funding in place to be remediated. Any potential future environmental remediation is considered to be
de minimus to the City. Therefore, the City has not made any adjusiments related to GASB No. 49 to record any potential
environmental remediations.

NOTE 11 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The City has evalusted subsequent events through May 26, 2016, the date which the financial statements were available to be issued.
On March 24, 2016 the City issued $4,515,000 Public Improvements Serial Bonds, 2016 and $8,350,000 Bond Anticipation Noles.
The City is expecting a $1.2 million shortfall in 2017 as the result of the loss of revenue from the NRG payment in iieu of tax agreement
less the stale's transition aid and payments of debt related to the consent-ordered water treatment plant work and work on the seawall

coming due

No additional subsequent events have been identified that would require adjustments of or disclosure in the accompanying financial
staternents.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
GENERAL FUND

YEAR ENDED PECEMBER 31, 2015

REVENUES:
Real proparty laxes
Sales tax
Property tax ltems
Non-property tex ilems
Deparimental income
Shared services
Use of money and property
Licenses and permils
Fines and forailures

Sale of property and compensation for loss

Miscelaneous
State aid
Federal akd

Total revanues

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Councll
Mayor
Financial
Star
Shared sarvices
Speclal items
Police department
Fire department
QOther public salety
Transportation
Economic assistance and opportunity
Culture and racreation
Home and community service
Employee bensfits

Debt service:
Principal
Intorest

Total expendlitures

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers In
Transfar oul

Total other financing sources {uses)

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES AND OTHER
SOURCES OVER EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES

FUND BALANCE, January 1

FUND BALANCE, December 1

Varlance

Original Revised Favorable
Budgel Bevisions Budget Actual Encumbrances  {Unfavorable)
$ 4837477 § - $ 4037477 § 4838480 § e 3 1.003
2,858,632 - 2,858,632 2,403,021 . {455,601)
2,264,265 . 2,254,265 2,785,620 - 531,355
326,047 - 226,047 262,738 - (42,311)
1,681,815 1,687 1.693,512 1,736,608 . 43,096
481,969 250,000 731,969 1,208, 13 . 476,344
37,243 - 37,243 58,317 - 22,134
138,854 - 138,654 45,629 - {83,225)
10,200 8,244 78,444 112,701 - 34,257
122115 26,591 148,366 5483 - (143,883)
63,320 - 63,320 407,023 - 713
2,061,200 300,708 2,381,808 2,087,203 - (314.705)
5 449 500 440,500 72,218 . _(376.281)
14,873,767 1,036,740 16,010,537 18,036,433 - 25,895
38,650 g 38,850 38,728 . 16}
103,425 65 103,490 103,922 [ (438}
399,866 3914 403,780 57,384 1,141 45,255
489,235 1,208 490,441 485,292 3132 (0,983}
545,676 {9,748) 536,930 539,358 5608 (8,037}
330,212 (73,200) 257,012 238,443 - 20,569
3,436,011 41,428 2,477,457 3,633,379 2,134 {159,056)
1,981,807 470,577 2,460,384 2.517.237 461 {100,464}
219,097 13,108 232,203 219,549 2,188 10,466
1,233,755 223919 1,457,674 1,594,325 11,455 {148,106)
50,033 . 50,033 42,415 892 6,726
624,522 30,492 655,014 £60,892 1,873 (7.751)
745,434 79,554 1,124,988 1,256,866 13.063 {144,743)
4,686,530 - 4,588,539 4,217,574 - 468,885

60,000 - 60,000 60,000 - .

29513 . 29,513 29,513 - -
14,973,797 1,089,311 16,063,108 18,003,678 86,103 {28.873)
- [52,57%) (52,571) 32,755 {86,103} (717
- . . 4,083 . 4,063
. . - 4,063 . 4,083
. 52,571) (52,571) 36,818 (86,103) 3,206

5,878,784 - 5878,784 5676,764 - =
$ 5,676,784 § {62,572} § 6,624,193 § 5713582 § (86,103} § 3,208
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS - OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
DECEMBER 31, 2015

The schedule of funding progress presented below provides a consolidated snapshot of the City's ability to
meet current and future liabilities with the plan assets. Of particular interest to most is the funded status ratio.
This ratio conveys a plan's level of assets to liabilities, an important indicator to determine the financial health
of the OPEB plan. The closer the plan is to a 100% funded status, the better position it will be in to meet all of
its future liabilities. The actuarial value of assets and actuarial accrued liability are obtained from the l|atest
actuarial report.

Actuarial
Accrued UAAL
Actuarial Liability Unfunded as a % of
Actuarial Value of (AAL})- AAL Funded Covered Covered
Valuation Assets Entry Age (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
Date {a) {b) {b-a) (a/b) {c) {{b-a)ic)
7/1/2008 3 - % 106,697 § 106,697 00% % S 0.0%
7/1/2009 5 - § 215,0M $ 215,071 0.0% 3 - 0.0%
7/1/2010 $ - § 202616 § 202,616 00% $ s 0.0%
7172011 3 - § 199,338 § 199,338 00% § - 0.0%
7172012 $ - $ 182146 § 182,146 00% § e 0.0%
7172013 3 - § 140,546 $ 140,546 00% § S 0.0%
7MR014 $ - $ 107418 § 107418 00% 3 - 0.0%
7172015 5 - & 51084 § 51,084 00% & S 0.0%
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION ASSET/LIABILITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

2015

PFRS PENSION PLAN

CITY'S PROPORTION SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY 0.1435222%

CITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY $ 395,059

CITY'S COVERED-EMPLOYEE PAYROLL $ 5,431,810

CITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET)

AS A PERCENTAGE OF ITS COVERED-EMPLOYEE PAYROLL 7.27%

CITY'S FIDUCIARY NET POSITION AS A PERCENTAGE OF THE TOTAL

PENSION LIABILITY 99.03%
ERS PENSION PLAN

CITY'S PROPORTION SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY 0.0156356%

CITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY ] 528,270

CITY'S COVERED-EMPLOYEE PAYROLL 3 4,238,924

CITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET)

AS A PERCENTAGE OF ITS COVERED-EMPLOYEE PAYROLL 12.46%

CITY'S FIDUCIARY NET POSITION AS A PERCENTAGE OF THE TOTAL
PENSION LIABILITY 97.95%
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS (1)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

—

Federal
FEDERAL GRANTOR/ CFDA Federal
PROGRAM TITLE Number (2) Notes Expenditures (3)
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING
AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT
Direct Programs
Community Development Block Grants
Entitlement Grants 14218 * $ 1,086,998
Total U.S. Department of
Housing and Urban Development 1,086,998
U.S, DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY
Pass through NYS Division of Homeland Security:
Disaster Grants - Public Assistance 97.036 73,219
Total U.S. Department of Homeland Security 73,219
TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS $ 1,160,217

* Major Program

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
.49 -



CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Notes:
(1) Includes all major and nonmajor programs.
{2) Source; October 2015 Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance.

(3) Prepared on the "GAAP" basis of accounting and includes all federal program
expenditures.

{(4) The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards includes the federal grant
activity of the City of Dunkirk, New York. The information in this schedule is presented in
accordance with the requirements of OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local
Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Therefore, some amounts presented in this
schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the basic
financial statements which are presented on the modified accrual basis.
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JOHNSON, MACKOWIAK
& ASSOCIATES, LLP

Certified Public Accountarits & Consultants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT
AUDITING STANDARDS

May 26, 2016

Honorable Mayor
Members of City Council
Treasurer

City of Dunkirk

Dunkirk, New York 14048

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial
statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely
presented component units, and each major fund of the City of Dunkirk, New York, as of and for
the year ended December 31, 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements which
collectively comprise City of Dunkirk, New York's basic financial statements and have issued
our report thereon dated May 26, 2016.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of
Dunkirk New York's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our
opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City of Dunkirk New York's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express
an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Dunkirk, New York's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A malerial weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented,
or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

-51 -
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Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during our
audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material
weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. We did
identify certain deficiencies in internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs that we consider to be significant deficiencies. (15-01)

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Dunkirk, New York's
financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance
with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement
amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported
under Government Auditing Standards.

The City of Dunkirk New York’s Response to Findings

The City of Dunkirk, New York’s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in
the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The City of Dunkirk, New York's
response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial
statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's
internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other
purpose.

W.Wi Cosstiatr, LLP

Johnson, Mackowiak & Associates, LLP
Fredonia, New York
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JOHNSON, MACKOWIAK
& ASSOCIATES, LLP

Certified Public Accountants & Consultants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM
AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY OMB CIRCULAR A-133

May 26, 2016

Honorable Mayor
Members of City Council
Treasurer

City of Dunkirk

Dunkirk, NY 14048

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited the City of Dunkirk, New York's compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that could have a
direct and material effect on each of the City of Dunkirk, New York’s major federal programs for
the year ended December 31, 2015. The City of Dunkirk, New York's major federal programs
are identified in the summary of auditor's resuits section of the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs.

Management’'s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grants applicable to its federal programs.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the City of Dunkirk's major
federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above.
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained
in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and
OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.
Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we plan and perform the audi to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program
occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City of Dunkirk, New
York's compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances.

-53.-
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We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each
major federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of
Dunkirk's compliance.

Opinion on Each of the Major Federal Programs

In our opinion, the City of Dunkirk, New York complied, in all material respects, with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that couid have a direct and material effect on each
of its major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the City of Dunkirk, New York, is responsible for establishing and maintaining
effective internal controi over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to
above. In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the City of Dunkirk’s
internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and
material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for
each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in
accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on
the effectiveness of the City of Dunkirk, New York's internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A malerial weakness in internal
control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type
of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of
compliance reguirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in
internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with
governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal
control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did
not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material
weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the
requirements of OMB Circular_A-133. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other

PUERQSE.

ISt st hedh dteselet B, L L P

Fredonia, New York

-54 -



CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

Section | - Summary of Auditors’ Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditors’ report issued: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness(es) identified? yes X no

Significant deficiency(ies) identified
that are not considered to be

material weakness(es)? X yes no
Noncompliance material to
financial statements noted? yes X no
Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:
Material weakness(es) identified? yes X no

Significant deficiency(ies) identified
that are not considered to be
material weakness(es)? yes X no

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance
for major programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are
required to be reported in accordance
with section 510(a) of Circular A-1337 yes X no
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS, continued
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

|dentification of major programs:

CFDA Numbers Name of Federal Program or Cluster
14.218 CDBG Entitlement Grant
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and type B programs? $300.000
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? yes X_no

Section Il - Financial Statement Findings

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2015, the City of Dunkirk, New York, had one
finding that was required to be reported in accordance with GAGAS.

15-01 Improvements in Internal Controls Over Receivable Reconciliations

Condition: Although the City records adjustments to its subsidiary ledgers for utility billing
and general accounts receivable, the adjustments are not consistently and timely posted to
the general ledger.

Criteria: Internal controls should be in place that provide reasonable assurance that
adjustments are timely recorded in the general ledger to be sure the City is aware of all
revenues to which it is entitled and that these revenues and receivables are correctly
recorded in the general ledger.

Effect: Because of the improper documentation, lack of formal approval and untimely

adjustment of the City's utility billing account corrections needed to be made as a result of
the City's annual audit.

Cause: The City does not have established policies and procedures requiring timely
reconciliations and adjustments of its accounts.

Recommendation: The City should establish a policy requiring formal documentation of all
utility account adjustments as well as requiring approval by the City Treasurer. An
established policy for making these adjustments will increase the likelihood that the
adjustments will be recorded in a timely and correct manner,

Management's Response: Internal controls are established to provide assurance that
receivables account adjustments are recorded in a timely manner. There are instances
where an adjustment is mandated and may lapse from the month of the billing into the
next billing cycle. All adjustments require final approval by the City Treasurer. The formal
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procedures established were followed explicitly to the letter until the loss of a full-time
employee in the Treasury Department. Due to time constraints and available staff and
work hours, timeliness was impacted by these adjustment procedures. The City is still
investigating alternatives to correct the situation.

Section lll — Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2015, the City of Dunkirk, New York, did not
have any findings that were considered Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

¢ There were no prior year A-133 findings
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
SCHEDULE OF STATE TRANSPORTATION ASSISTANCE EXPENDED
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

NYSDOT
Contract
PROGRAM TITLE Number Expenditures
Consolidated Highway Improvement
Program (CHIPS) N/A 3 309,702

TOTAL STATE TRANSPORTATION ASSISTANCE EXPENDED $ 309,702

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF STATE TRANSPORTATION
ASSISTANCE EXPENDED
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

GENERAL

The accompanying Schedule of State Transportation Assistance Expended of City of Dunkirk, New
York, presents the activity of all financial assistance programs provided by the New York State
Department of Transportation.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The accompanying Schedule of State Transportation Assistance Expended is presented using the
modified accrual basis of accounting.

The amounts reported in the Schedule of State Transportation Assistance Expended generally
were obtained from the appropriate financial reporis for the applicable program and periods. The
amounts reported in the financial reports are prepared from records maintained for each program.
These records are periodically reconciled to the general ledger which is the source of the financial
statements.

INDIRECT COSTS
There are no indirect costs associated with these programs,
MATCHING COSTS

Matching costs, ie, the City's share of certain program costs, are not included in the reported
expenditures,

AMOUNTS PAID TO SUBRECIPIENTS

There were no amounts paid to subrecipients.
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JOHNSON, MACKOWIAK
& ASSOCIATES, LLP

Coriified Public Accountants & Consultarts

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
OVER STATE TRANSPORTATION ASSISTANCE EXPENDED BASED ON AN AUDIT
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT
AUDITING STANDARDS

May 26, 2016

Honorable Mayor

Members of the City Council
Treasurer

City of Dunkirk, New York 14048

Compliance

We have audited the compliance of the City of Dunkirk, New York with the types of compliance
requirements described in Part 43 of the New York State Codification of Rules and regulations
(NYCRR) that are applicable to each state transportation assistance program tested for the year
ended December 31, 2015. The programs tested are identified in the summary of audit results
section of the accompanying schedule of findings and guestioned costs. Compliance with the
requirements of laws, regulations, contracts and grants applicable to each program tested is the
responsibility of the City of Dunkirk, New York's management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the City of Dunkirk, New York's compliance based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Part 43 of NYCRR.
Those standards and Part 43 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to
above, that could have a direct and material effect on the state transportation assistance
programs tested, has occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about
the City of Dunkirk, New York's compliance with those requirements and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our audit does not provide a legal determination on
the City of Dunkirk, New York's compliance with those requirements.

In our opinion, the City of Dunkirk, New York complied in all material respects with the
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each
of its state transportation assistance programs tested for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Internal Control Over Compliance

The management of the City of Dunkirk, New York is responsible for establishing and
maintaining effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grants applicable to state transportation assistance programs. In planning and
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performing our audit, we considered the City of Dunkirk, New York's internal control over
compliance with requirements that could have a direct and material effect on state
transportation assistance programs to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of
expressing our opinion on compliance, and to test and report on the internal control over
compliance in accordance with Part 43 of NYCRR, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express
an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Dunkirk, New York's internal control over
compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing
their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct noncompliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a state transportation assistance program on a timely basis. A
material weakness in interal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state transportation
assistance program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.

Our consideration of the internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described
in the first paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal
control over compliance that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies or material
weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we
consider to be a material weakness, as defined above.

Schedule of State Transportation Assistance Expended

We have audited the financial statements of the City of Dunkirk, New York as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2015, and have issued our report thereon dated May 26, 2016. Our audit
was performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the City of Dunkirk, New York's
financial statements taken as a whole. The accompanying schedule of state transportation
assistance expended is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by Part 43 of
NYCRR, and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, in our
opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements taken as a
whole.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the City of Dunkirk, New York’s

management and the New York State Department of Transportation. However, this report is a
matter of public record and its distribution is not limited.

W,%M# Censslatr), LLP

Johnson, Mackowiak & Associates, LLP
Fredonia, New York
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR STATE TRANSPORTATION ASSISTANCE EXPENDED

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

Summary of Audit Results:

Internal control over state transportation assistance expended:

» Material weakness(es) identified
* Reportable condition(s) identified that are not
considered to be material weakness(es)

Type of auditors' report issued on compliance
for programs tested:

Identification of State Transportation Assistance Programs Tested:
Name
Consolidated Highway Improvement Program
Compliance Findings and Questioned Costs:

No matters were reported.
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None reported
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CITY OF DUNKIRK, NEW YORK
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS
FOR STATE TRANSPORTATION ASSISTANCE EXPENDED
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

The City of Dunkirk, New York did not have any prior year findings.
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